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Source: Janus Henderson Investors, Staff and assets under management (AUM) data as at 30 June 2023. AUM data excludes
Exchange-Traded Note (ETN) assets.

Who we are

At Janus Henderson our mission is to help clients define and achieve superior financial outcomes through differentiated insights, disciplined
investments, and world-class service. This means being ever mindful of the futures of the millions of lives that our thinking and our
investments help shape. Our diverse client base and robust balance sheet allow us to offer financial strength and stability with which to help
investors achieve their objectives.

The human connection matters in all that we do. Teams across Janus Henderson come together every day to deliver outcomes for our
clients — and their clients — that make a difference. We are proud of this responsibility as we fulfil our purpose of ‘Investing in a brighter future
together’ The goals we set, the strategy we create, and the way that we work are all shaped with this ultimate objective in mind.

Why us
Choosing Janus Henderson means benefiting from:

Differentiated insights
* We are proud of our deep-rooted research culture, which has underpinned our 89-year track record of investing.

 Janus Henderson's investment teams meet thousands of companies each year. Insight from these meetings combined with proprietary
analysis results in original views that shape our investment positioning.

» With 340 investment professionals around the world, we benefit from a range of perspectives that we test and share as we seek to
differentiate between the winners and losers on behalf of our clients.

Disciplined investments
 Our investment teams set clearly defined objectives and processes to deliver long-term risk-adjusted returns. We value the trust clients
place in us and are disciplined in staying true to our investment style through all market conditions.

* We apply robust controls to ensure that risk taken is in accordance with client expectations and investment manager expectations. We
have more than 150 experts in our risk and compliance teams.

World class service
* We offer global reach with our broad network of investment and client service specialists. This is combined with the responsiveness,
tailored solutions, and personal touch of a local partner.

* Understanding the challenges our clients — and their clients — face globally, and working in partnership, means we can provide support
as we blend our best ideas and capabilities to define appropriate tailored outcomes.

* We seek to contribute to clients’ understanding and decision-making — we share knowledge through published insights, at events, and
by actively participating in debate on the future of investing.
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Authorised Corporate Director’s (ACD) report for the year ended 31 May 2023

We are pleased to present the Annual Report & Accounts for Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | (the ‘Company’) for the year
ended 31 May 2023.

Authorised status

The Company is an open-ended investment company (OEIC) with variable capital incorporated in England and Wales under registered
number IC000181 and authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) with effect from 11 June 2002. It is a United Kingdom
Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UK UCITS) scheme structured as an umbrella company, comprising of
seven active sub-funds (‘funds’), complying with chapter 5 of the Collective Investment Schemes Sourcebook (COLL). The operation of
the Company is governed by the OEIC Regulations, COLL, its Instrument of Incorporation and Prospectus.

The Company has an unlimited duration. Shareholders are not liable for the debts of the Company.

Segregation of assets
Each fund is treated as a separate entity and is a segregated portfolio of assets and those assets can only be used to meet the liabilities
of, or claims against that fund.

Other information

Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund merged into the Janus Henderson UK Smaller Companies Fund, a sub-fund of
the Janus Henderson UK & Europe Funds, on 18 March 2021. The Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund holds delisted
stocks in the Portfolio which has prevented the fund from terminating. It is the ACD’s intention to terminate the fund once the stocks
have been removed from the Portfolio and as such the financial statements of the fund have been prepared on a basis other than going
concern.

On 2 August 2022 the Janus Henderson Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund received a windfall tax refund as a result of a successful
settlement of historic tax claims filed with HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) that increased the NAV by 0.55%. This uplift is reflected in
all performance figures that span that date.

Value assessment
The board of Janus Henderson Fund Management UK Limited (JHFMUKL) present the value assessment report for the period to
31 December 2022, made available on our website www.janushenderson.com.

Access by this link (https://www.janushenderson.com/en-gb/investor/notice/value-assessment-report).

The FCA, the UK's financial services regulator, requires all fund management groups to perform a detailed assessment of whether
funds are providing value to investors, and publish an annual statement summarising the outcome of this process, known as the
value assessment. Our report is published by JHFMUKL, the Board of the ACD (the body responsible for an investment fund) and
summarises the period to 31 December 2022.

The value assessment considers a minimum of seven criteria set by the FCA. While investment performance and quality of service

are clearly important factors, costs and charges paid by investors are also key considerations. At Janus Henderson, ensuring value is
delivered to investors has always been central to our process and therefore the value assessment is an extension to the existing ongoing
monitoring processes that provide oversight of how the funds are managed.

The report contains an overview of the process that Janus Henderson undertook to perform this assessment along with the conclusions.

The Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund was not included within the value assessment as this fund merged into the
Janus Henderson UK Smaller Companies Fund on 18 March 2021.

Macro risks

Janus Henderson continues to monitor closely macro risks, including geopolitical risks, such as the impact of the Russia/Ukraine conflict,
and market risks, such as stresses in the banking sector. We have established processes to be able to respond timely to changes. We
have well-established and tested business continuity and crisis management processes in place, which cover a large number of disruptive
scenarios, including cyber threats and market events. Janus Henderson also has embedded market risk monitoring processes, including
modelling potential stressed market scenarios, to help inform our investment decisions.

The Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund closed on 18 March 2021 and whilst the risks noted above still exist, the
impact of these on the fund during the year was minimal.
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Authorised Corporate Director’s (ACD) report (continued)

Director’s statement

This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Collective Investment Schemes Sourcebook as issued and
amended by the Financial Conduct Authority. | hereby certify the investment reviews and financial statements on behalf of the Directors
of Janus Henderson Fund Management UK Limited.

Cw/\/\ R Chaudhuri
M ) (Director)

19 September 2023
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Authorised Corporate Director’s (ACD) report (continued)

Service providers
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Institute of Chartered
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Market review for the year ended 31 May 2023

Global equities, as measured by the MSCI World Index, rose by 4.3% in sterling and 2.6% in US dollar terms during the year to

31 May 2023, as inflation cooled and major central banks reduced the size of their interest rate rises. An abrupt halt to China’s
COVID-19 lockdowns in late 2022 further cheered markets. However, bouts of uncertainty about the direction of monetary policy,
particularly as inflation surged earlier in the year, coupled with anxiety about a global downturn and potential contagion from a regional
banking crisis in the US, caused volatility.

In the UK, the FTSE All Share Index was up by 0.4% in sterling terms, as major central banks turned less hawkish and the economic
outlook brightened a little. Initially, there had been worries that the UK economy faced a deep recession. Investor alarm about the plans
of the Liz Truss government for unfunded tax cuts caused volatility in the autumn and led to her resignation, while the market largely
welcomed the appointment of her successor Rishi Sunak. The improved sentiment at the end of 2022 and in early 2023 helped the
FTSE 100 Index hit a record high in February. However, persistent pricing pressures unsettled investors in May. Annual inflation peaked
at a 41-year high of 11.1% in October 2022, and eased in most months thereafter, hitting 8.7% in April — still well above the Bank of
England’s (BoE) 2% target. The BoE continued to increase interest rates - it raised the benchmark rate to 4.5% in May — although it
started to slow the pace of tightening from December. UK GDP expansion was weak, at just 0.1% over both the first quarter of 2023
and the fourth quarter of 2022. Sterling strengthened against the US dollar, having recovered from a record low in September amid the
turmoil over the planned tax cuts.

In Europe, the FTSE World Europe (Ex UK) Index increased by 8.5% in sterling and 7.3% in euro terms on economic optimism as
inflation cooled, major central banks eased the pace of their rate rises and the region avoided a winter energy shortage. Fears about a
crisis in the banking sector, as Switzerland’s Credit Suisse neared collapse, caused a sell-off in the first half of March, before the lender’s
takeover by rival UBS spurred a relief rally. Eurozone annual inflation initially hit record highs, reaching 10.6% in October, although it
ended at 61% in May — the lowest level since February 2022. The European Central Bank (ECB) raised its deposit rate from -0.5% to
3.25% — a near 15-year high — and signalled in May that more hikes were likely to follow. The Eurozone economy narrowly avoided a
technical recession, growing by just 0.1% over the first quarter, having achieved no growth over the fourth quarter. The euro strengthened
modestly against sterling and weakened slightly against the US dollar.

US equities, as measured by the S&P 500 Index, were higher by 4.7% in sterling and 2.9% in US dollar terms as a slowdown in both
inflation and US Federal Reserve (Fed) rate hikes boosted sentiment. The gains helped the market recover from sharp declines in 2022
that were fuelled by anxiety about inflation and the economy. The collapse of three US regional lenders and uncertainty about the US
debt ceiling talks caused significant volatility towards the end of the reporting year. The annual inflation rate reached a more than 40-year
high of 9.1% in June 2022, although it subsequently declined to 4.9% in April. The Fed raised interest rates to 5.25% from 1.00% during
the year following a series of aggressive increases in 2022, although it later moderated the size of its hikes. The economy remained
resilient as it expanded by an annualised 1.3% in the first quarter of 2023, albeit down from 2.6% growth in the previous quarter. The
Fed's rate hikes helped the US dollar to hit a more than 20-year high in September. However, the currency finished only moderately
stronger overall as policy makers turned less hawkish.

In Japan, the TOPIX gained 7.2% in sterling and 14.5% in yen terms, buoyed by the improved global sentiment in 2023 and the Bank

of Japan’s (BoJ) continued monetary policy support. In May, some favourable corporate results helped the TOPIX hit its highest level
since 1990. Equities had sold off in December as the central bank unexpectedly adjusted its yield curve control policy. Pricing pressures
increased during most of the year: the annual core inflation rate, which excludes fresh food prices, rose to a more than 40-year high of
4.2% in January. Nevertheless, the BoJ's new governor, Kazuo Ueda, who took the helm in April, said the central bank’s policy remained
appropriate, although he announced a review. Japan’s economy grew by an annualised 1.6% in the first quarter as it emerged from a mild
downturn in the second half of 2022. The yen weakened against the US dollar — it slumped to a more than 30-year low in early October —
given the divergence in monetary policy between the US and Japanese central banks.

In Asia, the MSCI AC Asia Pacific Ex Japan Index was down by 6.0% in sterling and 7.5% in US dollar terms. Chinese equities declined
as extended COVID-19 restrictions, a weakening economy and worries about geopolitical tensions hit sentiment. The subsequent
easing of lockdowns and government support for the debt-laden property market spurred a rebound, although stocks retreated in May
as the economic recovery disappointed. Shares declined in South Korea and Taiwan on anxiety about economic growth and monetary
tightening in the US earlier in the reporting year, although they later recouped some of the losses as the global mood improved.
Australian market returns were negative as the Australian dollar weakened against sterling and the US dollar. The Reserve Bank of
Australia raised interest rates during the year as inflation climbed to a more than 30-year high in the fourth quarter of 2022.

The MSCI Emerging Markets Index declined by 6.5% in sterling and 8.1% in US dollar terms, as economic worries and the US
currency's appreciation reduced interest in riskier assets. Indian shares gained as the economy continued to grow and inflation cooled,
although fraud accusations against conglomerate Adani unsettled the broader market in January. Brazilian stocks fell on concerns about
the government's fiscal position and its perceived interference in monetary policy. The South African market dropped heavily as the rand
weakened against sterling and the US dollar, given persistent power cuts that hurt the economy. Turkey’s market surged higher, buoyed
by strong investment flows from domestic investors keen to protect their money from soaring inflation, while February's devastating
earthquake caused volatility.
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Market review (continued)

Within fixed income, the JPM Global Government Bond Index decreased by 4.0% in sterling and 5.6% in US dollar terms. Yields on core
government bond markets — including the US, UK, Germany and Japan - rose (prices fell, reflecting their inverse relationship) as most
major central banks raised interest rates to bring inflation under control. However, yields generally declined in late 2022 and in 2023 as
policy makers eased the pace of tightening. The yield on US benchmark 10-year Treasuries ended the year above 3.5%, up from more
than 2.8% at the start of June 2022. Corporate credit markets were weak overall. Improved sentiment helped corporate bonds rally in
January, although they reversed course in the following month.

In commodity markets, oil prices weakened as worries about a global downturn and the effects of China’s COVID-19 lockdowns in
2022 offset disruptions caused by the Ukraine conflict and supply tightness. US crude benchmark West Texas Intermediate ended the
year down by about 40%. Spot gold prices rose — they neared a record high level in May — as major central banks slowed the pace

of monetary tightening and the US dollar weakened in the latter part of the year. Copper prices were lower overall as worries about a
recession earlier in the reporting year hurt the demand outlook. Optimism about Chinese consumption as COVID-19 restrictions were
eased helped the commodity regain some ground.

Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | 5



Statement of Authorised Corporate Director’'s (ACD) responsibilities
for the year ended 31 May 2023

The FCA's COLL requires the ACD to prepare financial statements for each annual accounting year which give a true and fair view,

in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) for Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Management
Association (IMA) in May 2014 and amended in June 2017, UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) (UK Accounting
Standards, comprising the Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland), of the financial
affairs of the Company and each of the sub-funds, and their revenue/expenditure for the year. In preparing the financial statements the
ACD is required to:

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
* comply with the requirements of the SORP for Authorised Funds issued by the IMA in May 2014 and amended in June 2017;
» follow generally accepted accounting principles and applicable accounting standards;

* keep proper accounting records which enable it to demonstrate that the financial statements, as prepared by JHFMUKL, comply with
the above requirements;

* make best judgements and estimates that are reasonable; and

* prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
operation for the foreseeable future.

The ACD is responsible for the management of the Company in accordance with its Instrument of Incorporation, Prospectus and
the OEIC Regulations. The ACD is also responsible for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
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Statement of the Depositary’s responsibilities and report of the Depositary to the

shareholders of Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | (the ‘Company’)
for the year ended 31 May 2023

The Depositary must ensure that the Company is managed in accordance with the Financial Conduct Authority’s Collective Investment

Schemes Sourcebook, the Open-Ended Investment Companies Regulations 2001 (SI 2001/1228) (the OEIC Regulations), as amended,
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (together ‘the Regulations’), the Company’s Instrument of Incorporation and
Prospectus (together ‘the Scheme documents’) as detailed below.

The Depositary must in the context of its role act honestly, fairly, professionally, independently and in the interests of the Company and its
investors.

The Depositary is responsible for the safekeeping of all custodial assets and maintaining a record of all other assets of the Company in
accordance with the Regulations.

The Depositary must ensure that:

» the Company's cash flows are properly monitored and that cash of the Company is booked into the cash accounts in accordance
with the Regulations;

* the sale, issue, redemption and cancellation of shares are carried out in accordance with the Regulations;

* the value of shares in the Company is calculated in accordance with the Regulations;

* any consideration relating to transactions in the Company'’s assets is remitted to the Company within the usual time limits;
» the Company's income is applied in accordance with the Regulations; and

* the instructions of the ACD are carried out (unless they conflict with the Regulations).

The Depositary also has a duty to take reasonable care to ensure that the Company is managed in accordance with the Regulations and
the Scheme documents in relation to the investment and borrowing powers applicable to the Company.

Having carried out such procedures as we consider necessary to discharge our responsibilities as Depositary of the Company, it is
our opinion, based on the information available to us and the explanations provided, that in all material respects the Company, acting
through the ACD:

(i) has carried out the issue, sale, redemption and cancellation, and calculation of the price of the Company's shares and the application
of the Company’s income in accordance with the Regulations and the Scheme documents of the Company, and

(i) has observed the investment and borrowing powers and restrictions applicable to the Company.

NatWest Trustee and Depositary Services Limited
London
19 September 2023

Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | 7



Independent Auditors’ report to the shareholders of Janus Henderson Investment Funds
Series |

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | (the ‘Company’):

* give a true and fair view of the financial position of each of the sub-funds as at 31 May 2023 and of the net revenue/expenses and the
net capital gains/losses/result on the scheme property of each of the sub-funds for the year then ended; and

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’, and
applicable law), the Statement of Recommended Practice for UK Authorised Funds, the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook
and the Instrument of Incorporation.

Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | is an Open Ended Investment Company (‘OEIC’) with eight sub-funds. The financial
statements of the Company comprise the financial statements of each of the sub-funds. We have audited the financial statements,
included within the Annual Report & Accounts (the ‘Annual Report’), which comprise: the Balance sheets as at 31 May 2023; the
Statements of total return and the Statements of change in net assets attributable to shareholders for the year then ended; the
Distribution tables; the Accounting policies; and the Notes to the financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)’) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

Emphasis of matter — financial statements of a sub-fund prepared on a basis other than going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we draw attention to note 1(a) Basis of Preparation which
describes the Authorised Corporate Directors’ reasons why the financial statements for the Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller
Companies Fund (the ‘terminating sub-fund’), a sub-fund of Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series |, have been prepared on a basis
other than going concern. The financial statements of the remaining sub-funds of the Company (the ‘continuing sub-funds’) have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In respect of the Company as a whole and the continuing sub-funds, based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s or the
continuing sub-funds ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

With the exception of the terminating sub-fund, in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Authorised Corporate
Director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Company’s or its
continuing sub-funds’ ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Authorised Corporate Director with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The Authorised Corporate Director is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, any form of assurance thereon.
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Independent Auditors’ report to the shareholders of Janus Henderson Investment Funds
Series | (continued)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to
perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook requires us also to report
certain opinions as described below.

Authorised Corporate Director’s Report
In our opinion, the information given in the Authorised Corporate Director's (ACD) Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the Authorised Corporate Director for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Authorised Corporate Director's (ACD) responsibilities, the Authorised Corporate Director is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. The Authorised Corporate Director is also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary

to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Authorised Corporate Director is responsible for assessing the Company’s and each of the
sub-funds ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Authorised Corporate Director either intends to wind up or terminate the Company or individual sub-fund,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a

high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Company/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to breaches of the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance

might have a material effect on the financial statements, in particular those parts of the sourcebook which may directly impact on

the determination of amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities

for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal

risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or to increase the net asset value of any sub-fund of

the Company and judgements and assumptions made by management in their significant accounting estimates. Audit procedures
performed included:

* Discussions with the Authorised Corporate Director, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulation and fraud;

* Reviewing relevant meeting minutes, including those of the Authorised Corporate Director's board of directors;

* Identifying and testing journal entries, specifically any journals posted as part of the financial year end close process;

* Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent of our testing; and

* Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to
level 3 investments and private placements.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also,
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Independent Auditors’ report to the shareholders of Janus Henderson Investment Funds
Series | (continued)

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s shareholders as a body in accordance with
paragraph 4.5.12 of the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook as required by paragraph 67(2) of the Open-Ended Investment
Companies Regulations 2001 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Opinion on matter required by the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook
In our opinion, we have obtained all the information and explanations we consider necessary for the purposes of the audit.

Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook exception reporting
Under the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook we are also required to report to you if, in our opinion:

* proper accounting records have not been kept; or
* the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

P Yi mamnlms E/CGGPU s LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Glasgow

19 September 2023
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Aggregated notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2023

1 Accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | (the ‘Company’) comprise the financial statements of each of
the funds. They have been prepared under the historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of investments, and in accordance
with the SORP for UK Authorised Funds issued by the IMA in May 2014 and amended in June 2017, FRS 102, FCA's COLL, the
Company’s Instrument of Incorporation and the Prospectus.

The financial statements for all funds with the exception of Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund have been prepared
on a going concern basis.

The financial statements for Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund have been prepared on a basis other than going
concern as the ACD has merged this fund with Janus Henderson UK Smaller Companies Fund on 18 March 2021. The ACD intends
to terminate this fund at a future date once the delisted stocks have been removed from the portfolio and Custodian records. There has
been no impact on the financial statements or disclosure notes to adjust assets or liabilities to realisable value. No adjustments were
necessary to provide for the costs of terminating the fund as the ACD will bear any related costs for this fund.

(b) Basis of valuation of investments

The valuation of listed investments has been at fair value, which is generally deemed to be bid market price, excluding any accrued
interest in the case of debt securities, at close of business on the last working day of the accounting year (31 May 2023) in accordance
with the provisions of the scheme particulars.

The ACD reviews and approves fair value pricing decisions on a regular basis with the support of the Janus Henderson EMEA Pricing
Committee (EPC). The Committee reports to the Board of Directors on suspended, defaulted, delisted, unquoted or manually priced
securities, taking into consideration where appropriate, latest dealing prices, valuations from reliable sources, financial performance and
other relevant factors.

Investments in collective investment schemes (CIS) have been valued at bid prices. For those CIS funds that are not dual priced, single
prices are used.

The realised and unrealised gains and losses derived from investments in Non-derivative securities are included in Net capital gains/
(losses) in the Statement of total return.

Derivative assets and liabilities are valued at the fair value price to close out the contract at the Balance sheet date, using available
market prices or an assessment of fair value based on counterparty valuations and appropriate pricing models.

Certificates of deposit are valued using a yield curve approach. The yield curve provides a graphical illustration of the relationship
between redemption yields and instrument’s maturity dates, and from this an appropriate market yield can be derived for the instrument
which can in turn be used to calculate its fair value.

(c) Revenue recognition
Distributions from CIS and dividends receivable from quoted equity and non equity shares/units are credited to revenue, when the
security is quoted ex-dividend. Dividends on unquoted stocks are credited to revenue when the dividend is announced.

Interest on debt securities is recognised on an accruals basis, taking into account the effective yield on the investment. The effective
yield is a calculation that amortises any discount or premium on the purchase of an investment over its remaining life based on

estimated cash flows.

Overseas dividends and overseas REIT revenue are disclosed gross of any foreign tax suffered, the tax element being separately
disclosed in the tax note.

Bank interest, deposit interest and interest from certificates of deposit are recognised on an accruals basis.

Accumulation of revenue relating to accumulation units or shares held in underlying funds is recognised as revenue and included in the
amount available for distribution. Equalisation received and accrued from distributions or accumulations on units or shares in underlying
investments is treated as capital and deducted from the cost of the investment.

Revenue earned on derivatives and interest on margin are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Any annual management charge (AMC) rebates from underlying funds, including offshore, are recognised on an accruals basis when the
entitlement arises in accordance with the treatment of the AMC on the underlying CIS.

Distributions from offshore funds on accumulation shares are recognised as revenue and added to the bookcost of the holding when
they are declared.
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Aggregated notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

(c) Revenue recognition (continued)

Under the UK Reporting Regime, an offshore fund with reporting status is required on an annual basis to calculate its excess reportable
income (ERI) which is broadly a calculation of its revenue income (interest and dividends received) less its revenue expenses such as
management fees (but not performance fees or incentive allocations). The ERI will be recognised in the fund as income when the ERI is
made public by the Offshore Fund.

Stock lending revenue is accounted for on an accruals basis, net of bank charges, agent fees and any withholding tax deducted.

Revenue derived from the gains/losses on hedged class forward currency contracts is allocated to both the capital and revenue of the
share class based upon the prior day capital/revenue split.

Special dividends are recognised as either revenue or capital depending on the nature and circumstances of the special dividend declared.

Dividends received as shares (scrip/stock dividends), to the extent that the value of such dividends is equal to the cash dividends, are
treated as revenue.

If any revenue receivable at the Balance sheet date is not considered recoverable, a provision is made for the relevant amount.

(d) Treatment of expenses (including ACD expenses)
All expenses (other than those detailed below and those relating to the purchase and sale of investments) are charged against revenue
on an accruals basis.

Annual Management Charge

In payment for carrying out its duties and responsibilities the ACD is entitled to take an annual fee out of the Company’s property,
calculated as a percentage of the relevant value of the property of each class of the funds. The AMC is accrued on a daily basis in
arrears by reference to the net asset value (NAV) of each share class and the amount due for each month is payable on the last working
day of the month.

The investment objective of Class | income of Janus Henderson Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund concentrates on the generation
of income as a higher priority than capital growth. The ACD and Depositary have agreed that 100% of the AMC for the share class is
to be taken to capital for the purpose of calculating the distribution, as permitted by the OEIC regulations and in accordance with the
Prospectus. The distribution currently payable reflects this treatment together with any associated tax effect.

General Administration Charge

All fees with the exception of the AMC, Depositary, legal fees, professional fees, dividend collection charges and safe custody fees
have been replaced by a single ad valorem charge, the General Administration Charge (GAC). The ACD believes that this creates more
efficiency around the charging process than more traditional methods. The GAC is calculated as a percentage of the scheme property
and the amount each share class in each fund will pay will depend on the costs attributable to each share class based on whether the
class is an A class (for retail investors) or an | class (for institutional investors). The GAC accrues on a daily basis and is payable to the
ACD by each share class monthly.

Performance fee on Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European Absolute Return Fund
The European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) issued new guidance on performance fees which was effective from 1 June 2021.

Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European Absolute Return Fund may pay a performance related fee.
Each fund’s performance fee will be 20% of the outperformance of the share class relative to the hurdle rate, subject to the high water
mark.

The hurdle rate is a rate of return that the share class must achieve before it can charge a performance fee. It may be a set percentage
or it may be referenced to a financial rate.

The high water mark means the initial launch price of the share class for the first crystallisation period or, in subsequent crystallisation
periods, the NAV at the end of the last crystallisation period where crystallisation occurs and a performance fee is paid. The high water
mark is adjusted for any distribution paid.

If the funds underperform in relation to either the hurdle rate or the high water mark, no performance fee is paid.

For all base currency share classes the performance fee will be calculated with reference to the returns of the share class NAV and
hurdle rate in the base currency of the relevant fund. For hedged share classes, the performance fee will be calculated with reference to
the returns of the share class NAV and the hurdle rate in the relevant share class currency.

The performance fee may crystallise at an annual crystallisation period end and on cancellation of shares with the Depositary on a
dealing day. Once a performance fee crystallises it is due to the Investment Manager and is paid as soon as practicable. No refund will
be made in respect of any perfomance fee paid out at that point even if the NAV of the relevant share class subsequently falls below the
high water mark and/or hurdle rate.
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Aggregated notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

(d) Treatment of expenses (including ACD expenses) (continued)

Performance fee on Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European Absolute Return Fund (continued)
In accordance with the Prospectus, performance fees are taken to capital for the purpose of calculating the distribution. Details of
amounts payable for the year can be seen in Note 4 of the financial statements for each fund.

Allocation of revenue and expenses to multiple share classes

With the exception of the AMC, the GAC and revenue derived from the gains/losses on hedged class forward currency contracts, which
are directly attributable to individual share classes, all revenue and expenses are allocated to share classes pro rata to the value of the
net assets of the relevant share class on the day that the revenue or expense is incurred.

(e) Exchange rates

Foreign currency transactions are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the accounting year are translated into sterling at the exchange rates prevailing at close
of business on the last valuation day of the accounting year.

(f) Taxation
Provision is made for tax at the current rates on the excess of taxable revenue over allowable expenses, with relief for overseas taxation
taken where appropriate.

Corporation tax is charged at 20% of the revenue liable to corporation tax less expenses.

Deferred tax is provided on all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the Balance sheet date other than those
recorded as permanent differences. Deferred tax is provided at the standard rate of 20%. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted to reflect the time value of money.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent it is regarded as more likely than not that there will be taxable profits against which
the future reversal of underlying timing differences can be offset.

Capital gains tax on disposal of shares in Indian securities is charged on short-term and long-term capital gains. A deferred tax provision
based on the short-term and long-term capital gains and associated tax rates at the Balance sheet date calculated in accordance with
the Indian tax authorities required methodology has been included in the financial statements.

(g) Cash flow statement

The funds are not required to produce a cash flow statement as they meet the exemption criteria set out in FRS 102 7.|A as the funds’
investments are highly liquid, are carried at market value and a Statement of change in net assets attributable to shareholders is
provided for the funds.

(h) Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments held in the base currency of the fund, which are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value and provide a return no greater than the rate of a three-month high quality
government bond.

(i) Hedged share classes
The following hedged share classes are available within the funds:

* Class | EUR Hedged accumulation and Class | USD Hedged accumulation on Janus Henderson European Absolute Return Fund

Hedged share classes allow the ACD to use currency hedging transactions to reduce the effect of fluctuations in the rate of exchange
between the currency of shares in those classes and sterling which is the base currency of the fund.

Any benefits or losses of the hedging transactions accrue to shareholders in that hedged share class only. The ACD will review the
relevant hedging positions on a regular basis and, if considered appropriate, make adjustments to correct the allocations across share
classes. However, the hedge may not always be 100% effective.

The currency transactions will not cause the EUR and US Dollar Hedged share classes to be leveraged. The value of the share class
to be hedged will be made up of both capital and income elements and the ACD intends to hedge between 95-105% of the value of
each hedged share class. Adjustments to any hedge to keep within this target range will only be made when the required adjustment is
material. As such the EUR and US Dollar Hedged share classes will not be completely protected from all currency fluctuations.

(j) Treatment of derivatives

Derivative transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Where such transactions are used to protect or enhance revenue and
the circumstances support it, the revenue and expenses derived there from are included in Revenue in the Statement of total return
on an accruals basis. Where such transactions are used to protect or enhance capital and the circumstances support it, the gains and
losses derived there from are included in Net capital gains/(losses) in the Statement of total return.
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Aggregated notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

(j) Treatment of derivatives (continued)

Forward foreign currency contracts

Open forward currency contracts are shown in the Portfolio statement at fair value and the net gains/(losses) are reflected in Forward
currency contracts in Net capital gains/(losses).

Forward foreign currency contracts on hedged share classes

Open forward currency contracts on hedged share classes are shown in the Portfolio statement at fair value. The net gains/(losses)

on forward currency contracts on hedged share classes are apportioned between hedged income on forward currency contracts in the
Revenue account and Forward currency contracts on hedged share classes in Net capital gains/(losses), reflecting the income and
capital elements of the hedged share classes.

Equity and Index future contracts

The unrealised gain/(loss) on open future contracts is disclosed in the Portfolio statement. The margins paid on these contracts are
included in amounts held at derivative clearing houses and brokers. The net gains/(losses) are apportioned between the revenue
account and derivative securities in net capital gains/(losses), reflecting the nature of the return. The basis of the apportionment is
typically made by reference to the yield on the underlying security or index or other appropriate source.

Options contracts

Options contracts are shown in the Portfolio statement at fair value and the net gains/(losses) are reflected within Derviative securities
in Net capital gains/(losses). Premiums receivable or payable on options are included within Derivative contracts in Net capital gains/
(losses).

Contracts for difference

Contracts for difference (CFD) are shown in the Portfolio statement at fair value and the net gains/(losses) are reflected within Derivative
securities in Net capital gains/(losses). The margins paid on these contracts are included in the Amounts held at derivative clearing
houses and brokers. Dividends receivable and payable on CFDs are recognised as either revenue or capital depending on the nature
and circumstances of the underlying dividends receivable. Dividends receivable or payable that are recognised as capital are included in
Derivative securities in Net capital gains/(losses) on an accruals basis. Dividends receivable that are recognised as revenue are included
in the Revenue account on an accruals basis. Dividends payable on CFDs that are recognised as revenue are included in Interest
payable and similar charges on an accruals basis.

(k) Dilution adjustment

The funds are priced on a single swinging price basis. The ACD has the discretion to charge a dilution adjustment when there is a
large volume of deals and, in accordance with the FCA regulations, to pay this amount into the fund by swinging the price of the shares
purchased or sold. In particular the ACD reserves the right to make such an adjustment in the following circumstances:

 On afund experiencing large levels of net purchases (i.e. purchases less redemptions), relative to its size;

» On a fund experiencing large levels of net redemptions (i.e. redemptions less purchases), relative to its size;

* In any other case where the ACD is of the opinion that the interests of existing or continuing shareholders and potential investors
require the imposition of a dilution adjustment.

(1) Private placement investments
A private placement is a private alternative to issuing a publicly offered security as a means for raising capital. In a private placement the
sale of securities is made directly by the issuer to a select number of investors without public offering through an investment bank.

Typically, when the sub-fund invests through a private placement, the sub-fund makes a commitment to invest a specified amount
of capital in the investee private company in a series of tranches. The capital commitment for the initial and any future closings are
triggered following the completion of defined conditions or events.

The sub-fund recognises investment purchases in the financial statements for tranches that completed or became binding transactions
prior to the end of the financial reporting period. These are then included in the period end investment portfolio as an investment holding.

2 Distribution policy
The distribution policy of the funds is to distribute/accumulate all available revenue, after the deduction of expenses properly chargeable
against revenue, subject to any expense which may currently be transferred to capital. The funds pay dividend distributions.

Revenue attributed to accumulation shareholders is retained at the end of each distribution period and represents a reinvestment of
revenue.

Marginal tax relief is not taken into account when determining the amount available for distribution on Janus Henderson Emerging
Markets Opportunities Fund.

Stock dividends are taken to capital and are therefore not taken into account when determining the amount available for distribution.

Gains and losses on investments and currencies, whether realised or unrealised, are taken to capital and are not available for
distribution.
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Aggregated notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Distribution policy (continued)
When the revenue from investments exceeds the expenses, a distribution will be made. Should expenses exceed revenue there will be
no distribution and the shortfall will be transferred from capital at the year end.

Al funds, except Janus Henderson UK & Irish Smaller Companies Fund, make biannual distributions (31 January and 31 July) to
shareholders.

In the event that the income yielded is low (generally less than 1% p.a.) the ACD has the discretion not to make an income allocation in
respect of a particular interim income allocation date and instead to hold over that payment until the final income allocation date.

All distributions unclaimed for a period of six years after having become due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert to the funds.

Equalisation
Income equalisation applies to all the funds.

Equalisation applies only to shares purchased during the distributions period (group 2 shares). It is the average amount of revenue
included in the purchase price of group 2 shares and is refunded to the holders of these shares as a return of capital. Being capital it is
not liable to income tax but must be deducted from the cost of shares for capital gains tax purposes.

3 Risk

In pursuing their investment objectives the funds hold a number of financial instruments. These financial instruments comprise securities
and other investments, cash balances, debtors and creditors arising from the funds’ operations. The funds may also enter into derivatives
and forward transactions for the purpose of hedging and efficient portfolio management (EPM).

Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European Absolute Return Fund may also use derivatives for investment
purposes.

The risk management policy and process for the funds is designed to satisfy the regulatory requirements for a UK UCITS; associated
regulatory technical standards and guidelines; and local regulations. The framework for risk controls and limits for the funds are
documented within the ACD’s Risk Management Policy and Process document, which outlines for each main risk category the controls
and risk measures in place, including stress tests for assessing sensitivity to the most relevant risks. This risk framework includes setting
of limits and monitoring against those limits.

In the normal course of business, the funds’ activities expose them to various types of risk which are associated with the financial
instruments and markets in which they invest. These financial risks: market risk (comprising currency risk, interest rate risk and other
market price risk), credit and counterparty risk and liquidity risk and the approach to the management of these risks, are set out below
and remain unchanged from the previous accounting year. For a detailed explanation of these and further risks involved in investing in
the funds, reference should be made to the Prospectus; investors and prospective investors are recommended to discuss all potential
risks with their own legal, tax and financial advisors.

The risk management systems to which the Janus Henderson Risk, Compliance and Operations teams have access for independent
monitoring and risk measurement purposes include:

* Charles River system’s Compliance module for investment restrictions monitoring;

* Nasdaq BWise operational risk database;

* RiskMetrics, UBS Delta, Style Analytics and Barra for market risk measurement; and
* Bloomberg for market data and price checking.

These are supplemented by an in-house developed system, the Janus Henderson Derivatives Risk and Compliance database.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from fluctuations in the market value of positions in the funds attributable to changes in market
variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates or an issuer’s creditworthiness.

The investments of the funds are subject to normal market fluctuations and other risks inherent in investing in securities in pursuance of
the investment objectives and policies.

There can be no assurance that any appreciation in the value of investments will occur. There is no certainty that the investment
objective of the funds will actually be achieved and no warranty or representation is given to this effect.

Investments in emerging markets may be more volatile than investments in more developed markets. Some of these markets may have
relatively unstable governments, economies based on only a few industries and securities markets that trade only a limited number

of securities. Many emerging markets do not have well developed regulatory systems and disclosure standards may be less stringent
than those of developed markets. Some of the more common risks associated with emerging markets investments include: fraudulent
securities; lack of liquidity; currency fluctuations; settlement and custody risks; investment and remittance restrictions; and accounting,
auditing and financial reporting requirements.
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Aggregated notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Risk (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

Where a fund invests in a specific country or geographical region, changes to local political and economic conditions may have a greater
impact on the fund’s value.

Funds investing in technology related industries may be susceptible to greater risks and market fluctuations than investment in a broader
range of investments covering different economic sectors.

Smaller company shares held by a fund can be riskier as they may be more difficult to buy and sell and their share price may fluctuate
more than that of larger companies.

Funds may hold a limited number of investments. If one of these investments declines in value, this can reduce the fund’s value more
than if it held a larger number of investments.

Funds may hold a private placement which is a private alternative to issuing a publicly offered security as a means for raising capital. In
a private placement the sale of securities is made directly by the issuer to a select number of investors without public offering through an
investment bank. Due to the nature of private placements, the free negotiability of these assets is restricted.

The funds may use derivatives for the purposes of EPM. Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European
Absolute Return Fund may also use derivatives for investment purposes. Derivatives are linked in value to an underlying asset and any
fall in the value of that asset may result in a loss greater than the original amount invested in the derivative itself. It is not intended that
using derivatives for EPM will increase the volatility of the funds. In adverse situations, however, a fund’s use of derivatives may become
ineffective in hedging or EPM and a fund may suffer significant loss as a result.

The global exposure of the funds is calculated by using either the commitment approach or Value-at-Risk (VaR) approach by reference
to their risk profile.

The global exposure of the funds (excluding Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European Absolute

Return Fund) is calculated using the commitment approach; the commitment approach means that financial derivative instruments are
converted into the market value of the equivalent position in the underlying asset(s). These funds may use derivatives for the purposes of
hedging and EPM, it is not expected that the use of derivatives for these purposes will alter the risk profile of the funds. Such funds do
not employ significant leverage.

The global exposure of Janus Henderson Absolute Return Fund and Janus Henderson European Absolute Return Fund and the
sensitivity analysis of the funds is calculated using the VaR approach. VaR is a mathematical-statistical concept and is commonly used
as a standard measure of risk in the financial sector. For each fund the maximum potential loss that it could suffer in normal market
conditions within a given time horizon and a certain degree of confidence is estimated. In these calculations all positions in the relevant
investment portfolio are taken into consideration including those undertaken for EPM purposes. VaR is calculated using a Monte Carlo
simulation approach; as a control mechanism, Monte Carlo results are compared to the parametric model for validation purposes within
the daily monitoring process.

The following parameters are applied as a minimum: a one-tailed 99% confidence interval, a holding period equivalent to one month
(20 business days), effective observation period (history) of risk factors of at least 1 year (250 business days), quarterly data set updates
and daily calculation.

Absolute VaR is calculated on all the positions in a fund'’s investment portfolio. For those funds using the VaR approach to calculate
global exposure for which it is not appropriate to determine a reference portfolio absolute monthly VaR is not to exceed a regulatory
maximum limit of 20%.

Please refer to the individual funds’ financial statements for details of global exposure, leverage and sensitivity analysis, where relevant.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the funds’ investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

A proportion of the funds’ assets and income may be denominated in currencies other than sterling (the funds’ functional currency and
the one in which financial statements are reported). As a result, movements in exchange rates may affect the sterling value of those

items so the funds’ total return and Balance sheet can be significantly affected by currency fluctuations.

The Investment Manager may seek to manage exposure to currency movements by using hedging transactions in line with each fund’s
investment objective, powers and limits, though this will not eliminate the fund’s currency risk.

Please refer to the individual funds’ financial statements for details of currency exposure.
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3 Risk (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

Hedged share classes

Hedged share classes allow the ACD to use currency hedging transactions to reduce the effect of fluctuations in the rate of exchange
between the currency of shares in such classes and sterling which is the base currency of the funds.

Any benefits or losses of the hedging transactions accrue to shareholders in that hedged share class only. The ACD will review the relevant
hedging positions on a regular basis and, if considered appropriate, make adjustments to correct the allocations across share classes.

The currency transactions will not cause the hedged share classes to be leveraged. The value of the share class to be hedged will be
made up of both capital and income elements and the ACD intends to hedge between 95-105% of the value of each hedged share
class. Adjustments to any hedge to keep within this target range will only be made when the required adjustment is material. As such
the hedged share classes will not be completely protected from all currency fluctuations.

Where such hedging is undertaken it may substantially protect investors in the relevant class against a decrease in the value of sterling
relative to the US dollar or euro but it may also preclude investors from benefiting from an increase in the value of sterling.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Some securities such as bonds are directly impacted by interest rate movements but others are indirectly affected.

Fixed interest securities are particularly affected by trends in interest rates and inflation. If interest rates go up, the value of the capital
may fall, and vice versa. Inflation will also decrease the real value of capital. The value of a fixed interest security will fall in the event of
the default or reduced credit rating of the issue. Generally, the higher the rate of interest, the higher the perceived credit risk of the issuer.
High yield bonds with lower credit rating (also known as sub-investment grade bonds) are potentially more risky (higher credit risk) than
investment grade bonds and may have an increased risk of default on repayment.

Please refer to the individual funds’ financial statements for details of interest rate risk exposure.

Other market price risk

Other market price risk is the risk that the value of the funds’ investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices caused
by factors other than interest rate or foreign currency movement. The risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial
instruments the funds might hold. It represents the potential loss the funds might suffer through holding market positions in the face of
price movements.

The funds’ investment portfolios are exposed to market price fluctuations, which are monitored by the ACD in pursuance of the
investment objectives and policies.

The Russia/Ukraine conflict and market risks, such as stresses in the banking sector are closely monitored and assessed by various
business units which has not required activation of the business continuity plans or a change from regular business processes. The
sub-funds did not have any direct exposure to Russia or Ukraine. The secondary market impact resulting in an increase in overall market
volatility influences risk levels of the sub-funds. The sub-funds continue to be managed according to their investment objectives through
this period of uncertainty with currently no areas of concern identified. Fund valuations are carried out without any necessary deviation
from the valuation policy, the sub-funds’ risk profiles remain within pre-defined ranges and redemptions and subscriptions continue to be
met in the normal course of business.

(b) Credit and counterparty risk
Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of loss resulting from the possibility that the counterparty to a transaction may default on its
obligations prior to the settlement of the transaction’s cash flow.

In order to manage credit risk the funds are subject to investment limits for issuers of securities as outlined in the Prospectus. Issuer
credit ratings are evaluated periodically and an approved issuer list is maintained and monitored. In addition the funds may only buy and
sell investments through brokers which have been approved by the ACD as acceptable counterparties and limits are set and monitored
to cover the exposure to any individual broker. Changes in brokers financial ratings are periodically reviewed by the Janus Henderson
Counterparty Risk Committee along with set limits and new counterparty approval.

The funds’ assets that are held with the banks could be exposed to credit and counterparty risk. The banks used by the funds and ACD
are subject to regular reviews. Only counterparties that have been approved by Janus Henderson’s Counterparty Risk Committee are

used for derivative transactions. The continuing creditworthiness of counterparties is monitored on a daily basis.

Adherence to investment guidelines and to investment and borrowing powers set out in the Instrument of Incorporation, the Prospectus
and in the FCA's COLL mitigates the risk of excessive exposure to any particular type of security or issuer.

Please refer to the individual funds’ financial statements for details of credit and counterparty risk exposure.
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3 Risk (continued)

(c) Operational risk

Failure of Janus Henderson systems or those of other third party service providers could lead to an inability to provide accurate reporting
and monitoring or a misappropriation of assets. Janus Henderson has a comprehensive business continuity plan which facilitates
continued operation of the business in the event of a service disruption or major disaster.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that a position in the funds’ portfolios cannot be sold, liquidated or closed out at limited cost in an adequately
short timeframe and that the ability of the funds to meet their settlement obligations is thereby compromised.

The funds are generally able to realise cash quickly to meet their liabilities. The main liquidity requirements of the funds include the
redemption of any shares that a shareholder wishes to sell. Temporary higher liquidity levels may also arise during the carrying out of a
change in asset allocation policy, or following a large issue of shares.

The ACD manages the funds’ cash positions to ensure they can meet their liabilities. The ACD receives daily reports of subscriptions
and redemptions enabling the ACD to raise cash from the funds’ portfolios in order to meet redemption requests. In addition the ACD
monitors the market liquidity of all securities, seeking to ensure the funds maintain sufficient liquidity to meet known and potential
redemption activity. The funds’ cash balances are monitored daily by the ACD and administrator. Where a fund has exposure to less
liquid assets, such as private placement notes, the ACD evaluates the degree of illiquidity for each instrument in order to determine the
overall liquidity risk of each fund as, by their nature, these type of assets are more difficult to dispose of, especially in times of stress,
as they typically require a longer time to sell, liquidate, or close out. Where investments cannot be realised in time to meet any potential
liability, the funds may borrow up to 10% of their property value to ensure settlement.

A maturity analysis of each funds’ financial liabilities is disclosed in the notes in each funds’ accounts.

4 Cross holdings
As at 31 May 2023 there were no sub-fund cross holdings within Janus Henderson Investment Funds Series | (2022: none).
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Janus Henderson China Opportunities Fund

Authorised Corporate Director’s report

Investment Fund Manager
May Ling Wee

Investment objective and policy
The fund aims to provide a return, from a combination of capital growth and income over the long term.

Performance target: To outperform the MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index by 2.5% per annum, before the deduction of charges, over
any 5 year period.

The fund invests at least 80% of its assets in a concentrated portfolio of shares (also known as equities) of companies, of any size,

in any industry, in China or Hong Kong. Companies will have their registered office in or do most of their business (directly or through
subsidiaries) in this region. The fund may invest up to 50% of its assets in China A-Shares. The portfolio may be concentrated in terms
of its number of holdings and/or the size of its largest holdings.

The fund may also invest in other assets including companies outside this region, depositary receipts, cash and money market
instruments. The Investment Manager may use derivatives (complex financial instruments) to reduce risk or to manage the fund more
efficiently.

The fund is actively managed with reference to the MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index, which is broadly representative of the companies
in which it may invest, as this forms the basis of the fund's performance target. The Investment Manager has discretion to choose
investments for the fund with weightings different to the index or not in the index.

Strategy

The Investment Manager seeks to identify companies that can generate unexpected earnings growth, at both an industry and stock
level, not yet recognised by the broader market. Central to this is the belief that Chinese equity markets are noisy and inefficient, thereby
allowing regular, meaningful and profitable investment opportunities to appear.

Performance summary

Cumulative performance Since

One year Three years Five years inception

31May22- 31May20-  31May18-  31Mar83-

31 May 23 31 May 23 31 May 23 31 May 23

% % % %

Class | accumulation (Net) (21.8) 277) (30.8) 6,325.8
MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index* (12.6) (17.2)* (19.5)*

IA China/Greater China Sector (16.1) (15.1) (14.2) 5,427.4

Class | accumulation (Gross) (211) (25.8) 277) 8,950.0
MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index + 2.5%* (10.4) (10.8)** (8.9 S

Performance/performance target related data will display only when relevant to the fund/share class inception date and the annualised
target time period.

Discrete performance 31 May 22 - 31 May 21 - 31 May 20 - 31 May 19 - 31 May 18 -
31 May 23 31 May 22 31 May 21 31 May 20 31 May 19

% % % % %

Class | accumulation (Net) (21.8) (25.4) 239 97 (12.7)
MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index* (12.6) (237) 24.3* 75" (9.6)*
IA China/Greater China Sector (16.1) (23.0) 315 145 (11.8)
Class | accumulation (Gross) (211) (247) 25.0 10.6 (11.9)
MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index + 2.5%* (10.4) (21.8) 27.4* 10.2* (7.3)*

Please note that the performance target is to be achieved over a specific annualised time period. Refer to the the investment objective
and policy above.
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Authorised Corporate Director’s report (continued)

Performance summary (continued)

* From 1 July 2020, the fund benchmark changed from the MSCI Zhong Hua Index to the MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index. Past
performance before 1 July 2020 is shown for the previous fund benchmark.

** Performance is a blend of the old and new benchmark.

** Benchmark return is not quoted as the fund inception date is earlier than the benchmark inception date.

Source: Morningstar
Class | accumulation (Net), NAV to NAV, net of fees and net income reinvested as at 12 noon valuation point.
Class | accumulation (Gross), NAV to NAV, gross of OCF and net income reinvested as at 12 noon valuation point.

Benchmark values are as at close of business.
Class | accumulation is disclosed as it is the representative share class.

Benchmark usage:

Index: MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index

Index usage: Target

Index description: The MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index is a measure of the combined performance of large and medium sized companies
listed on Hong Kong and Chinese stock markets re-weighted from the parent index by the benchmark provider to align with the UCITS
fund investment restrictions. It forms the basis for the fund’s performance target.

Peer group: IA China/Greater China Sector

Peer group usage: Comparator

Peer group description: The Investment Association (IA) groups funds with similar geographic and/or investment remit into sectors. The
fund'’s ranking within the sector (as calculated by a number of data providers) provides a useful performance comparison against other
funds with similar aims.

Past performance does not predict future returns. The value of an investment and the revenue from it can fall as well as rise as a result
of market and currency fluctuations and you may not get back the amount originally invested.

Significant portfolio changes for the year ended 31 May 2023

Largest purchases £000 Largest sales £000
WuXi Biologics 10,471 AIA 17,934
Ping An Insurance 'H' 8,750  JD.com A 16,407
Pinduoduo ADS 7545  Tencent 15,977
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing 6,476  Sungrow A 12,273
Yunnan Energy New Material ‘A 6,462  NARI Technology ‘A 11,896
China Resources Land 5,833  LONGi Green Energy Technology ‘A 1,776
China Oilfield Services 5,694  Zijin Mining 'H' 10,287
ZTO Express (Cayman) ADR 5,655 NetEase 9,834
Swire Pacific ‘A 5,384  Contemporary Amperex Technology ‘A 9,098
Trip.com ADR 5,324  Longfor 9,057
Total purchases 155,481 Total sales 298,713
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Authorised Corporate Director’s report (continued)

Investment review

The fund fell 21.8% (Net), 21.1% (Gross) based on Class | accumulation over the year under review, compared with a fall of 12.6% in the
MSCI Zhong Hua 10/40 Index, a fall of 10.4% in the Target Index + 2.5% and a fall of 16.1% in the IA China/Greater China Sector peer
group benchmark.

Chinese equities continued to lose ground during the reporting year, which was marked by significant volatility. The market sold off and
hit its lowest point in October before rebounding to its peak around the Spring Festival towards the end of January.

Stocks made gains at the start of the reporting year as China’s largest and most economically vibrant cities of Shanghai and Beijing
emerged from COVID-19 lockdowns. The positive sentiment was soon lost when house buyers boycotted mortgage payments on
properties that developers had failed to complete due to cash-flow constraints. While the domestic real estate market remained
challenged, the rivalry between the US and China worsened. Washington broadened restrictions on the sale of advanced chips and
equipment to include a ban on US citizens from aiding the development of China’s semiconductor industry. It also prohibited non-US
companies that use US technology from selling to China.

The fourth quarter of 2022 saw the market swing from extreme pessimism, at the time of the Communist Party’s National People’s
Congress (NPC), to optimism. Policy action to support the property market and developers helped to turn the mood, while an abrupt and
aggressive reversal of China’s ‘zero COVID-19’ policy provided a further strong boost.

The new calendar year started strongly as China’s economy reopened and COVID-19 infections declined following a surge. Meanwhile,
mobility data suggested social and business activities had increased. Sentiment reversed after the Spring Festival, however, as US/
China tensions ratcheted up with the discovery of a Chinese surveillance balloon over the US. In addition, the political conflict between
the two over technology widened when Japan and the Netherlands restricted the sale of advanced semiconductor equipment to China.
China’s 5% GDP growth target was announced at the start of the NPC, which suggested that the government would let the reopening-
led rebound drive the economy and was unlikely to employ large stimulus measures. From April, macroeconomic data weakened and
underwhelmed, while a poor first-quarter 2023 corporate earnings season from domestic onshore listed companies led to downward
earnings revisions. At the sector level, selection in materials, an underweight position and selection in financials, and selection in
healthcare were the largest detractors from the fund’s performance.

At the stock level, the largest detractors were Beijing Oriental Yuhong Waterproof Technology, a waterproofing material provider for
infrastructure and real estate projects, and Yunnan Energy New Material, which makes separator film for electric vehicles. Beijing
Oriental Yuhong Waterproof Technology performed poorly as a demand slowdown led to a weak pricing environment, while prices of its
key raw materials increased, which significantly compressed margins. Yunnan Energy New Material sold off after its chairman and CEO
were arrested, although both were subsequently released. The arrests raised doubts about the company's ability to raise new financing
to fund future projects. In the healthcare sector, clinical research services provider Wuxi Biologics performed poorly because of concerns
that the US would try to restrict US pharmaceutical companies from working with Chinese owned clinical research organisations. Poor
funding conditions for Chinese biotechnology companies also raised worries about the resilience of Wuxi Biologics domestic customers.

The top contributors to returns at the stock level were fast-food restaurant operator Yum China, solar inverter manufacturer Sungrow, not
owning electric carmaker Nio, and Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing (TSMC).

During the year, we initiated a holding in TSMC given our confidence in its strong technological position and what we viewed as an
attractive valuation. The fund purchased travel aggregator Trip.com as we liked its leadership in China’s outbound travel market. In the
express delivery sector, we initiated a position in ZTO Express, where the pricing environment had improved, while the company had
sustained market share gains. To fund these purchases, we closed positions in real estate developer Longfor, Zijin Mining and power
grid equipment provider NARI Technology.

Investors have moved on from watching China’s fast and rapid economic reopening to measuring its recovery. Macroeconomic data
has been mixed and the recovery has so far appeared slower and bumpier than expected, while it has also been uneven across the
economy. Within the consumer space, spending in the luxury segment has outperformed middle and mass market consumption.
Since the reopening, the Chinese economy has grown at a slower rate than in previous years and performance between industries
and companies has diverged. We believe corporate China is still on track to see an earnings and cash-flow recovery, especially for
companies that have driven down costs and reinvested in their businesses to propel longer-term growth. Our focus remains on these
companies, and we have seen more of them at attractive valuations amid the market sell-off.
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Comparative tables for the year ended 31 May 2023

Class A accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 1321.64 1,792.63 1,460.98
Return before operating charges* (279.99) (444.40) 362.97
Operating charges (2172) (26.59) (31.32)
Return after operating charges® (301.71) (470.99) 331.65
Distributions on accumulation shares (315) - (2.04)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 315 - 2.04
Closing net asset value per share 1,019.93 1,321.64 1792.63
* after direct transaction costs of: 2.66 2.00 1.40
Performance
Return after charges (22.83%) (26.27%) 22.70%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 42,694 73,346 112,533
Closing number of shares 4185,985 5,549,614 6,277504
Operating charges 1.75% 1.75% 1.75%
Direct transaction costs 0.21% 013% 0.08%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 1,445.00 1,822.00 2145.00
Lowest share price (pence) 94760 1147.00 1,483.00

Class E accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 1,341.25 1,810.10 1,467.85
Return before operating charges* (285.16) (449.66) 364.83
Operating charges (15.74) (19.19) (22.58)
Return after operating charges* (300.90) (468.85) 342.25
Distributions on accumulation shares (6.40) (1.80) (6.37)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 6.40 1.80 6.37
Closing net asset value per share 1,040.35 1,341.25 1,810.10
* after direct transaction costs of: 2.69 2.02 1.41
Performance
Return after charges (22.43%) (25.90%) 23.32%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 16,983 23,224 34,116
Closing number of shares 1,632,431 1731537 1,884,780
Operating charges 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%
Direct transaction costs 0.21% 013% 0.08%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 1,467.00 1,841.00 2,163.00
Lowest share price (pence) 963.70 1,163.00 1,490.00
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Comparative tables (continued)

Class | accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 196.32 263.94 213.23
Return before operating charges* (41.85) (65.66) 52.99
Operating charges (1.61) (1.96) (2.28)
Return after operating charges* (43.46) (67.62) 50.71
Distributions on accumulation shares (1.37) (1.00) (1.75)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 1.37 1.00 1.75
Closing net asset value per share 152.86 196.32 263.94
* after direct transaction costs of: 0.40 0.30 0.20
Performance
Return after charges (2214%) (25.62%) 23.78%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 156,897 208,229 352,360
Closing number of shares 102,642,192 106,065,674 133,499,105
Operating charges 0.87% 0.87% 0.87%
Direct transaction costs 0.21% 013% 0.08%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 214.90 268.50 315.00
Lowest share price (pence) 141.30 170.00 216.40
Class | USD accumulation
2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 1,456.19 1,962.10 1,588.67
Return before operating charges* (309.27) (48775) 394.50
Operating charges (15.53) (18.16) (21.07)
Return after operating charges* (324.80) (505.91) 373.43
Distributions on accumulation shares (7.98) (3.49) (8.33)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 798 3.49 8.33
Closing net asset value per share 1,131.39 1,456.19 1,962.10
* after direct transaction costs of: 3.05 2.20 1.51
Performance
Return after charges (22.30%) (25.78%) 23.51%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 14,485 146,133 237288
Closing number of shares 1,280,289 10,035,322 12,093,566
Operating charges 1.09% 1.09% 1.09%
Direct transaction costs 0.21% 013% 0.08%
Prices
Highest share price (USD cents) 1,945.00 2,813.00 3,248.00
Lowest share price (USD cents) 1,208.00 1,627.00 2,012.00
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Comparative tables (continued)

Direct transaction costs incurred on securities transactions (including derivatives) are stated after deducting the proportion of the
amounts collected from dilution adjustments that relate to direct transaction costs.

Performance values are at close of business on a bid basis, which will differ from those in the Performance summary.

Operating charges
Operating charges are expenses associated with the maintenance and administration of the fund on a day-to-day basis that are actually
borne by the share class.

Share class launches and closures
There were no share classes launched or closed during the year.
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Ongoing charge figure

The annualised ongoing charge figure (OCF) of the fund is calculated as the ratio of the total ongoing charges to the average net asset
value for twelve months. Ongoing charges are all expenses deducted from the assets of the fund during the year, except for expenses
that are explicitly excluded by regulation.

2023 2022

% %

Class A accumulation 175 175
Class E accumulation 125 125
Class | accumulation 0.87 0.87
Class | USD accumulation 1.09 1.09

The OCF is calculated in accordance with guidelines issued by ESMA.
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Risk and reward profile

The fund currently has 4 types of share class in issue: A accumulation, E accumulation, | accumulation and | USD accumulation.

Each share class has the same risk and reward profile which is as follows:

Typically lower potential Typically higher potential

risk/reward risk/reward

Lower risk Higher risk
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

The share classes appear at 6 out of 7. Share classes in higher categories have shown greater and/or more frequent variations in
Net Asset Value in the past five years than those in lower categories. The lowest category does not mean risk free.

The Synthetic Risk and Reward Indicator (SRRI) is calculated based on historical volatility over a rolling five* year period, it is reviewed
monthly and updated if volatility has changed materially to cause a movement in the SRRI level. The SRRl is an indicator and may not

accurately reflect future volatility and market conditions.

The value of an investment and any income from it can go up or down. When you sell your shares they may be worth less than you paid
for them.

The rating above is based on the historic volatility of the share classes. Historic data may not be a reliable indication of the future risk
profile of the fund. The rating is not guaranteed and may change over time.

The full list of the fund's risks are contained in the ‘Risk Factors’ section of the fund's prospectus.
There has been no change to the risk rating during the year.
The SRRI conforms to the ESMA guidelines for the calculation of the SRRI.

* Class E accumulation launched on 24 June 2019 and as it does not have a five year history, a synthetic history has been created using
the A accumulation share class.
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Portfolio statement as at 31 May 2023

Holding Investment Market Percentage
value of total
£000 net assets

%

Equities 99.08% (2022: 98.71%)
China 80.68% (2022: 83.29%)

Basic Materials 0.00% (2022: 2.94%)
Chemicals 0.00% (2022: 0.33%)

Precious Metals and Mining 0.00% (2022: 2.61%)

Consumer Discretionary 26.43% (2022: 26.63%)
Automobiles and Parts 0.00% (2022: 1.57%)

Consumer Services 0.37% (2022: 0.00%)
27906  New Oriental 848 0.37

Household Goods and Home Construction 1.88% (2022: 1.84%)
745,307  Midea ‘A 4,332 1.88

Leisure Goods 4.32% (2022: 4.51%)
730,995  NetEase 9,983 432

Personal Goods 4.25% (2022: 3.61%)

1,330,500  LiNing 5,760 2.49
621,600  Shenzhou International 4,062 176
9,822 4.25

Retailers 9.49% (2022: 12.43%)

2,486,380  Alibaba 19,950 8.63
153,263  JD.com A 1,986 0.86
21,936 9.49

Travel and Leisure 6.12% (2022: 2.67%)

71134 H World ADR 2,102 0.91
212,074 Trip.com ADR 5,407 2.34
145,964  Yum China 6,642 2.87

14,151 612

Consumer Staples 10.72% (2022: 6.45%)
Beverages 10.05% (2022: 3.93%)

38,421 Kweichow Moutai ‘A 7,086 3.07
1,034,000  Tsingtao Brewery 'H' 7178 311
399,376  Wauliangye Yibin ‘A 7,289 315
2,287,400 ZJLD 1,671 072
23,224 10.05

Food Producers 0.67% (2022: 2.52%)
497,000  China Mengniu Dairy 1,565 0.67
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Portfolio statement (continued)

Holding

5,564,000

9,188,000

2,022,000

1,634,000

1,562,000

838,700

197,835

534,100

1,205,000

756,547

360,161

254,280

1,566,000

Investment

Energy 4.05% (2022: 5.38%)
Alternative Energy 0.00% (2022: 3.53%)

Qil, Gas and Coal 4.05% (2022: 1.85%)
China Oilfield Services
PetroChina 'H'

Financials 7.70% (2022: 6.00%)
Banks 3.28% (2022: 4.20%)
China Merchants Bank 'H'

Life Insurance 4.42% (2022: 1.80%)

China Life Insurance 'H'
Ping An Insurance 'H'

Health Care 7.69% (2022: 3.93%)

Health Care Providers 1.10% (2022: 0.00%)

Aier Eye Hospital A

Medical Equipment and Services 2.91% (2022: 2.20%)
Shenzhen Mindray Bio-Medical Electronics ‘A

Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology 3.68% (2022: 1.73%)

WuXi AppTec 'H'
WuXi Biologics

Industrials 4.25% (2022: 7.65%)

Construction and Materials 0.97% (2022: 2.81%)
Beijing Oriental Yuhong Waterproof Technology ‘A

Electronic and Electrical Equipment 0.00% (2022: 2.53%)

Industrial Engineering 1.04% (2022: 1.30%)

Shenzhen Inovance Technology A

Industrial Transportation 2.24% (2022: 1.01%)

ZTO Express (Cayman) ADR

Real Estate 2.05% (2022: 2.67%)

Real Estate Investment and Services 2.05% (2022: 2.67%)

China Resources Land

Market Percentage
value of total
£000 net assets

%
4,576 1.98
4792 2.07
9,368 4.05
7575 3.28
2,223 0.96
7985 3.46

10,208 4.42
2545 110
6,733 2.91
3,545 1.53
4,968 215
8,513 3.68
2,246 0.97
2410 1.04
5178 2.24
4,729 2.05
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Portfolio statement (continued)

Holding Investment Market Percentage
value of total
£000 net assets

%
Technology 17.79% (2022: 16.53%)
Software and Computer Services 16.48% (2022: 11.62%)
249,300 Baidu A 3,065 1.33
498,250  Meituan 'B' 5,659 2.45
68,650  Pinduoduo ADS 3,616 1.57
699,700  Tencent 22,399 9.69
933,993  Venustech 'A 3,335 1.44
38,074 16.48
Technology Hardware and Equipment 1.31% (2022: 4.91%)
3,094,000 Lenovo 2,347 1.02

204,046  LONGi Green Energy Technology A 666 0.29

3,013 1.31
Telecommunications 0.00% (2022: 1.12%)
Telecommunications Equipment 0.00% (2022: 1.12%)
Utilities 0.00% (2022: 3.99%)
Electricity 0.00% (2022: 2.13%)
Gas, Water and Multi-utilities 0.00% (2022: 1.86%)
Hong Kong 15.51% (2022: 15.42%)
Consumer Discretionary 1.85% (2022: 0.87%)
Travel and Leisure 1.85% (2022: 0.87%)
853,000  Galaxy Entertainment 4,264 1.85
Consumer Staples 1.22% (2022: 0.00%)
Beverages 1.22% (2022: 0.00%)
522,600  Swire Pacific A 2,814 122
Financials 10.11% (2022: 12.58%)
Banks 0.00% (2022: 1.76%)
Investment Banking and Brokerage Services 2.71% (2022: 2.95%)
212,300  Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing 6,267 2.7
Life Insurance 7.40% (2022: 7.87%)
2,207,800  AlIA 17,089 740
Industrials 1.31% (2022: 1.19%)
Industrial Engineering 1.31% (2022: 1.19%)
403,000  Techtronic Industries 3,018 1.31
Real Estate 1.02% (2022: 0.78%)
Real Estate Investment Trusts 1.02% (2022: 0.78%)
503,340 Link REIT 2,360 1.02
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Portfolio statement (continued)

Holding

456,000

Investment

Taiwan 2.89% (2022: 0.00%)

Technology 2.89% (2022: 0.00%)

Technology Hardware and Equipment 2.89% (2022: 0.00%)
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing

Investment assets
Other net assets
Total net assets

Market Percentage
value of total
£000 net assets

%

6,681 2.89
228,936 99.08
2123 0.92
231,059 100.00

All investments are listed on recognised stock exchanges or are ‘approved securities” within the meaning of FCA rules unless otherwise

stated.

Prior year comparative percentages have changed for some sectors due to reclassification within these sectors.
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Statement of total return for the year ended 31 May 2023

2023 2022
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Income
Net capital losses 2 (73,642) (178,721)
Revenue 3 5,833 7,891
Expenses 4 (3,534) (6,173)
Interest payable and similar charges 5 2) (1)
Net revenue before taxation 2,297 1717
Taxation 6 (135) (361)
Net revenue after taxation 2162 1,356
Total return before distributions (71,480) (177,365)
Distributions 7 (2,451) (1752)
Change in net assets attributable to shareholders
from investment activities (73,931) (179,117)
Statement of change in net assets attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31 May 2023
2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Opening net assets attributable to shareholders 450,932 736,297
Amounts receivable on issue of shares 9,330 64,035
Amounts payable on cancellation of shares (157128) (171,850)
(147,798) (107,815)
Dilution adjustment 53 55
Change in net assets attributable to shareholders
from investment activities (73,931) (179,117)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 1,803 1,512
Closing net assets attributable to shareholders 231,059 450,932
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Balance sheet as at 31 May 2023

Assets:
Investments
Current assets:
Debtors
Cash and bank balances

Total assets
Liabilities:
Creditors:

Other creditors

Total liabilities

Net assets attributable to shareholders

Note

10

2023 2022

£000 £000

228,936 445,055
2,905 6,072

768 7,564
232,609 458,691
1550 7759

1,550 - 7759
231,059 450,932
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2023

1 Accounting policies

The accounting policies, distribution policy and potential risks are set out in notes 1 to 3 of the funds’ aggregated notes to the financial

statements.

2 Net capital losses

Net capital losses on investments during the year comprise:

2023 2022
£000 £000
Forward currency contracts 250 103
Non-derivative securities (72,899) (178,928)
Other currency (losses)/gains (987) 109
Transaction costs (6) (5)
Net capital losses (73,642) (178,721)
3 Revenue
2023 2022
£000 £000
Bank interest 97 12
Overseas dividends 5,555 7,685
Overseas REIT revenue 155 -
Stock lending revenue 7 3
UK dividends 19 191
Total revenue 5,833 7,891
4 Expenses
2023 2022
£000 £000
Payable to the ACD, associates of the ACD
and agents of either of them:
Annual management charge 3,056 5,413
GAC* 384 604
3,440 6,017
Payable to the Depositary, associates of the Depositary
and agents of either of them:
Depositary fees 21 34
Safe custody fees 70 17
91 151
Other expenses:
Dividend collection charges 3 2
Professional fees - 3
3 5
Total expenses 3,534 6,173
Irrecoverable VAT is included in the above expenses where relevant.
* The current audit fee, which is levied through the GAC, is £10,354 (2022: £9,393).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5 Interest payable and similar charges
The interest payable and similar charges comprise:

Interest payable

Total interest payable and similar charges

6 Taxation
a) Analysis of charge in the year
The tax charge comprises:

Current tax
Overseas withholding tax
Total tax (note 6b)

b) Factors affecting tax charge for year

2023 2022
£000 £000
2 1

2 1
2023 2022
£000 £000
135 361
135 361

The tax assessed for each year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK for funds of authorised OEICs of 20%

(2022: 20%). The differences are explained below:

Net revenue before taxation
Corporation tax at 20% (2022: 20%)

Effects of:

Overseas withholding tax
Overseas dividends

UK dividends*

Unused management expenses

Tax charge for the year (note 6a)

* As an OEIC this item is not subject to corporation tax.

2023 2022
£000 £000
2,297 1,717
459 344
135 361
(1110) (1,538)
(4) (38)
655 1232
135 361

OEICs are exempt from tax on capital gains made in the UK. Therefore, any capital return is not included within the reconciliation above.

c) Deferred tax

There is no provision required for deferred taxation at the Balance sheet date (2022: nil).

d) Factors that may affect future tax charges

At the year end, after claiming relief against revenue taxable on receipt, there is a potential deferred tax asset of £22,685,394
(2022: £22,030,126) in relation to surplus management expenses. It is unlikely that the fund will generate sufficient taxable profits in the
future to utilise these amounts and therefore no deferred tax asset has been recognised at the current or prior year end.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

7 Distributions
The distributions take account of revenue received on the issue of shares and revenue deducted on the cancellation of shares, and
comprise:

2023 2022

£000 £000
Interim accumulation 1728 1208
Final accumulation 75 304

1,803 1,512
Amounts deducted on cancellation of shares 680 318
Amounts received on issue of shares (32) (78)
Total distributions 2,451 1,752
Net revenue after taxation 2162 1,356
Equalisation on conversions - 2
Revenue shortfall 289 394
Total distributions 2,451 1,752
Details of the distribution per share are set out in the Distribution tables on page 41.
8 Debtors

2023 2022

£000 £000
Accrued revenue 476 1,515
Amounts receivable for issue of shares 28 -
Currency transactions awaiting settlement 3 -
Sales awaiting settlement 2,398 4,557
Total debtors 2,905 6,072
9 Cash and bank balances

2023 2022

£000 £000
Cash and bank balances 768 7564
Total cash and bank balances 768 7,564
10 Other creditors

2023 2022

£000 £000
Accrued annual management charge 196 355
Accrued Depositary's fee 3 6
Accrued other expenses 37 60
Amounts payable for cancellation of shares 308 373
Purchases awaiting settlement 1,006 6,965
Total other creditors 1,550 7,759
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11 Contingent liabilities and commitments
There were no contingent liabilities or outstanding commitments at the current or prior year end.

12 Related party transactions

JHFMUKL as ACD to the fund is deemed to be a related party in respect of their dealings with the fund. All transactions and balances
associated with the ACD are disclosed within the ‘Statement of total return’, the ‘Statement of change in net assets attributable

to shareholders’ and the ‘Balance sheet’ on pages 31 and 32 and notes 4, 7, 8 and 10 on pages 33 to 35 including all issues and
cancellations where the ACD acted as principal.

Transactions with the ACD are as follows:

- All issues and cancellations

- Annual management charge

-GAC

There were no material shareholders at the year end (2022: nil).

13 Shareholders’ funds
The fund currently has 4 share classes available: Class A (Retail), Class E (Retail), Class | (Institutional) and Class | USD (Institutional).
The annual management charge on each share class is as follows:

2023 2022

% %

Class A 1.50 150
Class E 1.00 1.00
Class | 0.75 0.75
Class | USD 1.00 1.00

The net asset value of each share class, the net asset value per share and the number of shares in each share class are given in the
Comparative tables on pages 22 to 24. The distribution per share class is given in the Distribution tables on page 41. All share classes
have the same rights on winding up.

Shares reconciliation as at 31 May 2023

Class A Class E Class | Class 1 USD

accumulation accumulation accumulation accumulation

Opening number of shares 5,549,614 1,731,637 106,065,674 10,035,322
Issues during the year 201,948 10,657 3,083,106 72,893
Cancellations during the year (629,007) (116,053) (12,734,557) (8,827,926)
Shares converted during the year (936,570) 6,290 6,227,969 -
Closing shares in issue 4,185,985 1,632,431 102,642,192 1,280,289

14 Financial derivatives
The fund may use financial derivatives to reduce risk or to manage the fund more efficiently.

Eligible collateral types are approved by the Investment Manager and are agreed with the relevant counterparty.

There was no collateral pledged or collateral held as at 31 May 2023 (2022: nil). The fund had cash assets of nil (2022: nil) and cash
liabilities of nil (2022: nil) held in margin accounts at derivative clearing houses and brokers as at 31 May 2023.

2023
The fund had no exposure to derivatives as at 31 May 2023 with a positive market value.

2022
The fund had no exposure to derivatives as at 31 May 2022 with a positive market value.
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15 Stock lending

The fund and the Investment Manager have entered into a stock lending programme with JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
(London branch) acting as the stock lending agent in order to generate additional revenue.

Stock lending revenue is disclosed under 'Revenue' in the Statement of total return.

Eligible collateral types for stock lending and borrowing transactions are approved by the Investment Manager and may consist of

(i) cash, (i) securities issued or guaranteed by an EU Member State, a Member State of the OECD or by their local authorities or
supranational institutions and organisations with regional, EU and world-wide scope or by Hong Kong or Singapore, generally subject to
a minimum long term credit rating of at least A- by one or more major rating agency or (i) equities. Collateral should be highly liquid and
traded on a regulated market. Collateral is subject to a haircut on a sliding scale based on the combination of the underlying instrument
being lent versus the asset being received as collateral. The value of collateral required will range from 102% to 110% of the value of the

stock on loan.

2023
Counterparty

JPMorgan Chase

Recipient

JPMorgan Chase

Relationship

Stock lending agent

Total market value

Amount of collateral

of stock on loan received
£000 £000

654 716

654 716

Total gross amount
of stock lending
revenue

£000

Direct and indirect
costs and fees
deducted by
securities lending
agent

£000

Type of collateral
category

Equity/Government
Bond

Net stock lending
revenue retained by
the fund

£000

2022
Counterparty Total market value Amount of collateral Type of collateral
of stock on loan received category
£000 £000
HSBC 930 980 Government Bond
930 980
Recipient Relationship Total gross amount Direct and indirect Net stock lending
of stock lending costs and fees revenue retained by
revenue deducted by the fund
securities lending
agent
£000 £000 £000
JPMorgan Chase Stock lending agent 3 -* 3
* Due to rounding to the nearest thousand, stock lending commission is below the minimum reporting threshold.
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16 Risk
Currency risk

The exposure to currency risk is considered significant. The following table details the net exposure of the principal foreign currencies

the fund is exposed to including any instruments used to hedge foreign currencies:

Investment assets

Other net assets

Total net assets

2023 £000 £000 £000
Currency
Chinese yuan 36,641 99 36,740
Hong Kong dollar 161,821 463 162,284
Taiwan dollar 6,681 - 6,681
UK sterling - 839 839
US dollar 23,793 722 24,515
Total 228,936 2,123 231,059
Other net assets/

Investment assets (liabilities) Total net assets
2022 £000 £000 £000
Currency
Chinese yuan 113,953 348 114,301
Hong Kong dollar 269,266 1,212 270,478
UK sterling - 4,318 4,318
US dollar 61,836 ©) 61,835
Total 445,055 5,877 450,932

Sensitivity analysis

The net foreign currency assets held by the fund at the year end were £230,219,742 (2022: £446,613,512). A 10% increase/(decrease)
in the foreign exchange rates applied to the fund's net foreign currency assets would have the effect of increasing/(decreasing) the

return for the accounting year and the year end net assets by £23,021,974 (2022: £44,661,351).

Interest rate risk

The fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is considered insignificant. This is consistent with the exposure during the prior year.

Other market price risk

An increase or decrease in market values will have a direct effect on the value of the investment assets in the portfolio and therefore a

proportionate effect on the value of the fund.

Leverage
The fund has not employed significant leverage in the current or prior year.

Liquidity risk

The following table provides a maturity analysis of the fund's financial liabilities showing the remaining contractual maturities on an

undiscounted basis:

Over one year
but not more

Ondemand  Within one year than five years Over five years
2023 £000 £000 £000 £000
Other creditors 1,550
Total - 1,550 - -
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16 Risk (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Over one year
but not more

Ondemand  Within one year than five years Over five years

2022 £000 £000 £000 £000
Other creditors - 7759 B B}
Total - 7,759 - -

17 Fair value disclosure

Fair value measurement

The intention of a fair value measurement is to estimate the price at which an asset or a liability could be exchanged in the market
conditions prevailing at the measurement date. The measurement assumes the exchange is an orderly transaction (that is, it is not a
forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale) between knowledgeable, willing participants on an independent basis.

The purpose of the fair value hierarchy is to prioritise the inputs that should be used to measure the fair value of assets and liabilities.

The highest priority is given to quoted prices at which a transaction can be entered into and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.

In accordance with FRS 102 the fund classifies fair value measurement under the following levels:

Level 1

The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.
Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are either observable (i.e. developed using market data) for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3

Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability.

Fair value hierarchy

2023 2022
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£000 £000 £000 £000
Level 1 228,936 - 445,055 -
Level 2 - - - -
Level 3 - - - -
228,936 - 445,055 -
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18 Direct transaction costs

Trades in the year
Equities

Trades in the year before transaction costs
Transaction costs
Commissions
Equities

Total commissions
Taxes

Equities

Total taxes

Other expenses
Equities

Total other expenses

Total transaction costs

Total net trades in the year after transaction costs

Total transaction costs expressed as a percentage of asset
type cost

Commissions

Equities

Taxes

Equities

Other expenses

Equities

Total transaction costs expressed as a percentage of net
asset value

Commissions

Taxes

Other expenses

Total costs

There were no in specie transfers during the year (2022: nil). There were no corporate actions during the year (2022: nil).

There were no direct transaction costs associated with derivatives in the year (2022: nil).

Purchases Sales

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000

155,255 200,750 299,228 305,449

155,255 200,750 299,228 305,449

109 129 155 175

109 129 155 175

107 134 330 310

107 134 330 310

10 20 30 29

10 20 30 29

226 283 515 514

155,481 201,033 298,713 304,935

Purchases Sales

2023 2022 2023 2022

% % % %

0.07 0.06 0.05 0.06

0.07 0.07 0.1 0.10

0.01 0.01 0.01

2023 2022
% %
0.08 0.05
014 0.08
0.01 0.01
0.23 0.14

Direct transaction costs are fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and
securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties associated with investment transactions on the fund. These exclude any differences
between quoted bid and offer prices or internal administrative or holding costs.

The portfolio dealing spread as at 31 May 2023 was 0.11% (2022: 0.09%). The portfolio dealing spread is calculated at a 12 noon valuation

point.

19 Events after the Balance sheet date

There were no material post Balance sheet events which require disclosure within these financial statements.
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Distribution tables for the year ended 31 May 2023 (in pence per share)

Interim dividend distribution (accounting date 30 November 2022, paid on 31 January 2023)

Group 1: shares purchased prior to 1 June 2022
Group 2: shares purchased on or after 1 June 2022

Distribution Equalisation Total Total
per share distribution distribution
per share per share
31/01/23 31/01/22
Class A accumulation
Group 1 31454 - 31454
Group 2 - 31454 31454
Class E accumulation
Group 1 6.3962 - 6.3962 1.8008
Group 2 - 6.3962 6.3962 1.8008
Class | accumulation
Group 1 1.2927 - 12927 0.7201
Group 2 0.1295 11632 1.2927 0.7201
Class | USD accumulation'
Group 1 9.4994 - 9.4994 4.4666
Group 2 0.0941 9.4053 9.4994 4.4666
'in USD cents per share
Final dividend distribution (accounting date 31 May 2023, paid on 31 July 2023)
Group 1: shares purchased prior to 1 December 2022
Group 2: shares purchased on or after 1 December 2022
Distribution Equalisation Total Total
per share distribution distribution
per share per share
31/07/23 29/07/22
Class A accumulation
Group 1
Group 2
Class E accumulation
Group 1
Group 2
Class | accumulation
Group 1 0.0727 0.0727 0.2758
Group 2 0.0710 0.0017 0.0727 0.2758
Class | USD accumulation'
Group 1 0.1441
Group 2 0.1441
'in USD cents per share
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Janus Henderson Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund

Authorised Corporate Director’s report

Investment Fund Managers
Daniel J. Grafa and Matthew Culley

Investment objective and policy

The fund aims to provide a return, from a combination of capital growth and income over the long term.

Performance target: To outperform the MSCI Emerging Markets Index by 2% per annum, before the deduction of charges, over any

5 year period.

The fund invests at least 80% of its assets in a concentrated portfolio of shares (also known as equities) of companies, of any size,

in any industry, in emerging markets. Companies will have their registered office in or do most of their business (directly or through
subsidiaries) in emerging markets. ‘Emerging markets’ are countries in the MSCI Emerging Markets Index, included in the World Bank
definition of developing economies, or which are, in the Investment Manager’s opinion, developing. The portfolio may be concentrated in

terms of its number of holdings and/or the size of its largest holdings.

The fund may also invest in other assets including companies outside emerging markets, depositary receipts, cash and money market
instruments. The Investment Manager may use derivatives (complex financial instruments) to reduce risk or to manage the fund more

efficiently.

The fund is actively managed with reference to the MSCI Emerging Markets Index, which is broadly representative of the companies in
which it may invest, as this forms the basis of the fund’s performance target. The Investment Manager has discretion to choose

investments for the fund with weightings different to the index or not in the index.

Strategy

The Investment Manager seeks consistent risk-adjusted returns by looking to identify the most attractive opportunities within

countries across various stages of economic and political development. This diverse landscape requires investors to utilise an array of
perspectives to fully evaluate these opportunities. By combining fundamental company research, market and economic analysis, a keen
focus on governance and quantitative input, the portfolio attempts to capture price inefficiencies across the market-cap spectrum.

Performance summary

Cumulative performance Since

One year Three years Five years inception

31May22- 31May20- 31Mayi18- 27 Feb87-

31 May 23 31 May 23 31 May 23 31 May 23

% % % %

Class | accumulation (Net) (7.4) 9.0 (2.3) 786.3
MSCI Emerging Markets Index (6.5) 11.8 5.8
IA Global Emerging Markets Sector (5.1) 12.0 3.0

Class | accumulation (Gross) (6.5) 121 22 1128.8
MSCI Emerging Markets Index + 2% 47) 18.6 16.8

Performance/performance target related data will display only when relevant to the fund/share class inception date and the annualised

target time period.

Discrete performance 31May22- 31May2i- 31May20- 31Mayi19- 31May18-
31May23 31May22 31May2l 31May20  31May19

% % % % %

Class | accumulation (Net) (7.4) (13.9) 36.7 (9.0 (1.5)
MSCI Emerging Markets Index (6.5) (9.3) 31.8 (2.2) (3.2)
IA Global Emerging Markets Sector (5.1) (11.9) 341 (5.4) (2.8)
Class | accumulation (Gross) (6.5) (131) 38.0 (8.2) (0.6)
MSCI Emerging Markets Index + 2% 4.7) (75) 34.4 (0.2) (1.3)

*

*

*

42

Janus Henderson Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund



Authorised Corporate Director’s report (continued)

Performance summary (continued)

Please note that the performance target is to be achieved over a specific annualised time period. Refer to the the investment objective

and policy above.

On 2 August 2022 the Janus Henderson Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund received a windfall tax refund as a result of a successful
settlement of historic FIl GLO tax claims filed with HMRC that increased the NAV by 0.55%. This uplift is reflected in all performance
figures for the representative share class that span that date.

* Benchmark return is not quoted as the fund inception date is earlier than the benchmark inception date.

Source: Morningstar

Class | accumulation (Net), NAV to NAV, net of fees and net income reinvested as at 12 noon valuation point.
Class | accumulation (Gross), NAV to NAV, gross of OCF and net income reinvested as at 12 noon valuation point.

Benchmark values are as at close of business.

Class | accumulation is disclosed as it is the representative share class.

Benchmark usage:
Index: MSCI Emerging Markets Index
Index usage: Target

Index description: The MSCI Emerging Markets Index is a measure of the combined performance of large and medium sized companies
from emerging stock markets. It forms the basis of the fund’s performance target.

Peer group: IA Global Emerging Markets Sector
Peer group usage: Comparator

Peer group description: The Investment Association (IA) groups funds with similar geographic and/or investment remit into sectors. The
fund'’s ranking within the sector (as calculated by a number of data providers) provides a useful performance comparison against other

funds with similar aims.

Past performance does not predict future returns. The value of an investment and the revenue from it can fall as well as rise as a result
of market and currency fluctuations and you may not get back the amount originally invested.

Significant portfolio changes for the year ended 31 May 2023

Largest purchases £000 Largest sales £000
Samsung Electronics 3,580  Alibaba 3,818
Alibaba 3,038  Housing Development Finance 3,699
Bharti Airtel 3,032 Hon Hai Precision Industry 3,066
Wal-Mart de Mexico 2,838  Samsung Electronics 2,832
Al Rajhi Banking and Investment 2,731 Yum China 2,809
BGF Retail 2,363  Varun Beverages 2,752
Alinma Bank 2,023 Anglo American 2,461
Zai Lab 1,976 Al Rajhi Banking and Investment 2187
BDO Unibank 1,947  Tencent 2176
AlA 1,767  Regional SAB de CV 2,048
Total purchases 74,590 Total sales 82,388
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Investment review

The fund fell 7.4% (Net), 6.5% (Gross) based on Class | accumulation over the year under review, compared with a fall of 6.5% in the
MSCI Emerging Markets Index, a fall of 4.7% in the Target Index + 2% and a fall of 5.1% in the IA Global Emerging Markets Sector peer
group benchmark.

Emerging market equities came under pressure at the end of the reporting period, due to investor concerns about surging inflation, rising
interest rates and increased global economic uncertainty. Stocks regained ground in the fourth quarter of 2022 on investor hopes that
moderating inflation might allow central banks to slow their interest rate hikes. Meanwhile, China announced a relaxation of its ‘zero-
COVID-19’ policy, which was seen as a potential positive development for economic growth.

Markets encountered increased volatility in the first quarter of 2023, however, especially after the failure of several US regional banks
raised concerns about the health of the global banking sector. Most central banks remained in policy tightening mode, even if the pace
of rate hikes slowed. Recession fears also buffeted stocks amid signs of slowing economic growth, especially in Europe. Moreover, by
the end of May, the anticipated post-reopening rebound in China also appeared to be losing steam amid reports of declining consumer
confidence. The fund’s underperformance relative to its benchmark during the period reflected both stock selection and country
allocation decisions.

Among individual holdings, several Chinese investments detracted, including Linklogis, a leading blockchain technology that specialises
in providing supply-chain financing for small and medium-sized businesses. Linklogis counts leading property developers among its
clients and the stock sold off in the second half of 2022 on concerns about its indirect exposure to China’s troubled property market. It
regained some ground in December 2022, after the Chinese government announced the relaxation of its strict COVID-19 lockdowns.
However, it declined in the second quarter of 2023 as the anticipated rebound in Chinese economic growth appeared to be weaker
than anticipated. Despite near-term uncertainty, we continued to appreciate Linklogis’ advantages in blockchain technology and strong
customer relationships.

Brazilian aluminium producer Cia Brasileira de Aluminio was also a laggard. The stock declined on softer pricing in the global aluminum
market and weakening demand, given Brazil's unfavourable macroeconomic backdrop. Cia Brasileira de Aluminio has committed to
‘green’ aluminum production through its advantaged access to hydropower resources in Brazil. This reliance on hydropower can leave it
exposed to weather-related short-term volatility. Low rainfall in Brazil led to lower power output and higher energy costs, which pressured
its business. We saw this as a short-term issue and continued to own the stock.

New Horizon Health was a standout performer. The healthcare company has changed the detection and treatment of colorectal cancer
in China with its ColoClear test, which is non-invasive, easy to use, accurate and reasonably priced. Sales of the test continued to rise
across China while the company has begun to expand into other geographic markets, starting with Hong Kong, which helped it report
strong results and guidance. We remained invested in the company given its market leadership and patented technology platform, which
it hopes may have applications for other indications beyond colorectal cancer.

Varun Beverages, another contributor, is a prominent bottler of Pepsi products that has expanded its footprint in India's soft drink market.
Varun Beverages' business trends initially slowed during the pandemic, as reduced mobility hurt soft drink sales. In response, the
company took measures to encourage at-home consumption and these steps helped support its revenue growth. The company’s on-the-
go beverage sales have improved with the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions, even as at-home consumption remained strong, which have
benefited its financial performance.

We recognise that near-term headwinds for global economic growth could have implications for emerging markets. At the same time, we
have become more optimistic about the outlook for emerging markets relative to developed economies. Emerging market central banks
started to raise interest rates before those in the US and Europe. We believe they are further along in their efforts to contain inflation
and, therefore, closer to ending their policy tightening. For this reason, we believe that rates could stabilise sooner in emerging markets
than in the US and Europe. We have continued to see encouraging fundamentals in a number of countries. We have also continued

to identify longer-term trends that we believe are creating attractive opportunities, from healthcare innovation to investment in electric
vehicles and green energy. We also believe that the reshoring of manufacturing capacity may spur stronger economic growth and
investment potential in emerging markets such as Vietnam and Mexico. We have also found opportunities in the Middle East, especially
in Saudi Arabia, where we have seen the potential of the government's efforts to modernise the economy. As we look to take advantage
of this broad array of opportunities, we continue to pay close attention to company and country fundamentals, as well as corporate
governance. We believe this strategy may lead to favorable long-term outcomes for our investors.
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Comparative tables for the year ended 31 May 2023

Class A accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 207.20 245.79 179.57
Return before operating charges* (13.80) (34.45) 70.29
Operating charges (3.67) (414) (4.07)
Return after operating charges* (17.47) (38.59) 66.22
Distributions on accumulation shares (1.44) - (0.06)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 1.44 - 0.06
Closing net asset value per share 189.73 207.20 24579
* after direct transaction costs of: 0.54 0.48 0.54
Performance
Return after charges (8.43%) (15.70%) 36.88%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 24,419 31,679 42,457
Closing number of shares 12,870,293 15,288,658 17,273,835
Operating charges 1.85% 1.78% 1.79%
Direct transaction costs 0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 212.50 258.80 268.20
Lowest share price (pence) 179.60 195.80 182.60

Class C accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 673.91 790.54 57110
Return before operating charges* (45.58) (111.98) 224.04
Operating charges (4.40) (4.65) (4.60)
Return after operating charges* (49.98) (116.63) 219.44
Distributions on accumulation shares (11.43) (4.42) (5.42)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 11.43 4.42 5.42
Closing net asset value per share 623.93 673.91 790.54
* after direct transaction costs of: 1.75 1.54 1.74
Performance
Return after charges (7.42%) (14.75%) 38.42%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 4 4 4
Closing number of shares 547 547 547
Operating charges 0.68% 0.62% 0.63%
Direct transaction costs 0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 693.20 833.30 859.80
Lowest share price (pence) 587.00 635.40 580.70
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Comparative tables (continued)

Change in net assets per share

Opening net asset value per share

Return before operating charges”

Operating charges

Return after operating charges”

Distributions on accumulation shares
Retained distributions on accumulation shares
Closing net asset value per share

* after direct transaction costs of:

Performance
Return after charges

Other information

Closing net asset value (£000s)
Closing number of shares
Operating charges

Direct transaction costs

Prices
Highest share price (pence)
Lowest share price (pence)

Change in net assets per share

Opening net asset value per share

Return before operating charges™

Operating charges

Return after operating charges™

Distributions on accumulation shares
Retained distributions on accumulation shares
Closing net asset value per share

* after direct transaction costs of:

Performance
Return after charges

Other information

Closing net asset value (£000s)
Closing number of shares
Operating charges

Direct transaction costs

Prices
Highest share price (pence)
Lowest share price (pence)

Class E accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
210.28 24819 180.41
(14.08) (34.90) 7075
(2.70) (3.01) (2.97)
(16.78) (37.91) 6778
(2.38) (0.59)
2.38 - 0.59
193.50 210.28 24819
0.54 0.48 0.55
(7.98%) (15.28%) 3757%
7,683 8,959 10,975
3,970,403 4,260,643 4,422156
1.34% 1.28% 1.29%
0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
215.90 261.50 270.40
182.70 198.50 183.40
Class | accumulation
2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
160.01 188.14 136.25
(10.74) (26.52) 53.46
(1.47) (1.61) (1.57)
(12.21) (2813) 51.89
(2.41) (0.59) (0.84)
2.41 0.59 0.84
147.80 160.01 188.14
0.42 0.37 0.41
(7.63%) (14.95%) 38.08%
28,517 31,231 41,895
19,294,294 19,518,061 22,267,756
0.96% 0.90% 0.91%
0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
164.50 198.30 204.70
139.20 150.90 138.50
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Comparative tables (continued)

Class | income

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 11213 133.34 97.74
Return before operating charges* (7.47) (18.71) 38.23
Operating charges (1.03) (1.14) (1.09)
Return after operating charges* (8.50) (19.85) 3714
Distributions on income shares (2.48) (1.36) (1.54)
Closing net asset value per share 10115 11213 133.34
* after direct transaction costs of: 0.29 0.26 0.28
Performance
Return after charges (7.58%) (14.89%) 38.00%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 223 297 454
Closing number of shares 220,649 265,370 340,494
Operating charges 0.96% 0.90% 0.91%
Direct transaction costs 0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 115.20 140.50 145.70
Lowest share price (pence) 9756 106.50 99.41
Class Z accumulation
2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 41415 483.00 346.94
Return before operating charges* (27.85) (68.44) 136.51
Operating charges (0.60) (0.41) (0.45)
Return after operating charges* (28.45) (68.85) 136.06
Distributions on accumulation shares (9.50) (5.27) (5.78)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 9.50 5.27 578
Closing net asset value per share 385.70 41415 483.00
* after direct transaction costs of: 1.08 0.94 1.07
Performance
Return after charges (6.87%) (14.25%) 39.22%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) 33,017 38,357 41,972
Closing number of shares 8,660,273 9,261,576 8,689,779
Operating charges 0.15% 0.09% 0.10%
Direct transaction costs 0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
Prices
Highest share price (pence) 42710 509.40 524.40
Lowest share price (pence) 361.50 390.00 352.80
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Comparative tables (continued)

Class | USD accumulation

2023 2022 2021
(pence (pence (pence
per share) per share) per share)
Change in net assets per share
Opening net asset value per share 10177 119.29 86.14
Return before operating charges* 16.05 (16.50) 3415
Operating charges (0.72) (1.02) (1.00)
Return after operating charges* 15.33 (17.52) 3315
Distributions on accumulation shares (1.22) (0.66) (0.79)
Retained distributions on accumulation shares 1.22 0.66 0.79
Final cancellation (11710)! - -
Closing net asset value per share - 101.77 119.29
* after direct transaction costs of: 0.26 0.23 0.26
Performance
Return after charges 15.06%2 (14.69%) 38.48%
Other information
Closing net asset value (£000s) - 1 1
Closing number of shares - 1,000 1,000
Operating charges 0.74% 0.90% 0.91%
Direct transaction costs 0.27% 0.21% 0.24%
Prices
Highest share price (USD cents) 128.90° 174.00 179.80
Lowest share price (USD cents) 101.60° 117.90 109.20

! Class | USD accumulation closed on 18 May 2023.

2 Return after charges relates to the period 1 June 2022 to the closure of the share class on 18 May 2023. This performance will differ
from the other share classes as it does not include returns generated over the same period.

3 to 18 May 2023.

Direct transaction costs incurred on securities transactions are stated after deducting the proportion of the amounts collected from
dilution adjustments that relate to direct transaction costs.

Performance values are at close of business on a bid basis, which will differ from those in the Performance summary.

Operating charges
Operating charges are expenses associated with the maintenance and administration of the fund on a day-to-day basis that are actually
borne by the share class.

Share class launches and closures

The following share class closed during the year:
Share class Closure date
Class | USD accumulation 18 May 2023
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Ongoing charge figure

The OCF of the fund is calculated as the ratio of the total ongoing charges to the average net asset value for twelve months. Ongoing
charges are all expenses deducted from the assets of the fund during the year, except for expenses that are explicitly excluded by

regulation.
2023
%
Class A accumulation 1.85
Class C accumulation 0.68
Class E accumulation 1.34
Class | accumulation 0.96
Class | income 0.96
Class Z accumulation 015
Class | USD accumulation n/a

The OCF is calculated in accordance with guidelines issued by ESMA.

' Class | USD accumulation closed on 18 May 2023.

2022
%

178

0.62

1.28

0.90

0.90

0.09

0.90

The OCF for all classes includes fees charged to the fund in relation to the Franked Investment Income Group Litigation Order (FIl GLO)
reclaims successfully completed in the current year, which increased the fund NAV by 0.55%. These fees account for 0.05% (2022: nil)

of the total OCF for each class disclosed above.
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Risk and reward profile

The fund currently has 6 types of share class in issue: A accumulation, C accumulation, E accumulation, I accumulation, | income and
Z accumulation.

Each share class has the same risk and reward profile which is as follows:

Typically lower potential Typically higher potential

risk/reward risk/reward

Lower risk Higher risk
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

The share classes appear at 6 out of 7. Share classes in higher categories have shown greater and/or more frequent variations in Net
Asset Value in the past five years than those in lower categories. The lowest category does not mean risk free.

The SRRl is calculated based on historical volatility over a rolling five* year period, it is reviewed monthly and updated if volatility has
changed materially to cause a movement in the SRRI level. The SRRI is an indicator and may not accurately reflect future volatility and

market conditions.

The value of an investment and any income from it can go up or down. When you sell your shares they may be worth less than you paid
for them.

The rating above is based on the historic volatility of the share classes. Historic data may not be a reliable indication of the future risk
profile of the fund. The rating is not guaranteed and may change over time.

The full list of the fund's risks are contained in the ‘Risk Factors’ section of the fund's prospectus.

The risk rating for all share classes increased from 5 to 6 during the year. The ratings may change over time as a fund takes on more or
less risky investments or where market conditions become more or less volatile. At share class level the ratings may differ dependent on
the class currency and may be influenced by currency movements and the impact of inflows and outflows.

The SRRI conforms to the ESMA guidelines for the calculation of the SRRI.

* Class E accumulation launched on 24 June 2019 and as it does not have a five year history, a sythetic history has been created using
the A accumulation share class.
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Portfolio statement as at 31 May 2023

Holding

228,890

304,958
55,273

266,478

581,217

193,989

98,100

59,000
1,468,000
467,200
40,704

72,954
1,164,600

1,397,500

1,064,720
723,500
39,527

Investment

Equities 97.12% (2022: 97.85%)
Australia 1.88% (2022: 1.07%)
Materials 1.88% (2022: 1.07%)
Allkem

Brazil 3.88% (2022: 5.54%)
Communication Services 0.00% (2022: 0.41%)

Consumer Discretionary 0.00% (2022: 1.04%)

Energy 1.83% (2022: 1.13%)
3R Petroleum Oleo e Gas
3R Petroleum Oleo e Gas ‘A

Financials 1.54% (2022: 0.00%)
Nu ‘A

Materials 0.51% (2022: 2.96%)
Cia Brasileira de Aluminio

Canada 1.22% (2022: 3.09%)
Materials 1.22% (2022: 3.09%)
lvanhoe Mines

China 26.51% (2022: 28.83%)
Communication Services 3.35% (2022: 4.84%)
Tencent

Consumer Discretionary 4.50% (2022: 6.56%)
BYD 'H'

Fu Shou Yuan International

H World

JD.com A

Consumer Staples 2.33% (2022: 0.00%)
Wuliangye Yibin ‘A
ZJLD

Financials 2.21% (2022: 3.60%)
CITIC Securities 'H'

Health Care 6.41% (2022: 2.47%)
Canbridge Pharmaceuticals

New Horizon Health

Shenzhen Mindray Bio-Medical Electronics ‘A

Market Percentage
value of total
£000 net assets

%

1,769 1.88
1,456 1.55
258 0.28
1,714 1.83
1,449 1.54
475 0.51
1,145 122
3,140 3.35
1,430 1.52
863 0.92
1,404 1.50
527 0.56
4,224 4.50
1,331 1.42
851 0.91
2,182 2.33
2,077 2.21
178 0.19
2,069 2.20
1,345 143
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Portfolio statement (continued)

Holding

154,713
345,200
951,500

49,824
324,175
329,322
139,564

4,316,671
251,860

1,282,000

230,000

245,256

40,410
895,467
32,213

154,123
33,470
276,906

1,290,630
182,273

Investment

Health Care (continued)

Structure Therapeutics (Restricted)'
Zai Lab

Zhaoke Ophthalmology

Industrials 4.64% (2022: 5.39%)
Contemporary Amperex Technology ‘A
Full Truck Alliance

Ming Yang Smart Energy ‘A

Shenzhen Inovance Technology ‘A

Information Technology 2.26% (2022: 2.41%)
Linklogis
LONGi Green Energy Technology ‘A

M